
 

Chelan County Planning Commission 
Chair: Doug England Vice Chair: Vicki Malloy 

Commissioners District 1: Vicki Malloy, Ryan Kelso, James Wiggs 
Commissioners District 2: Cherié Warren, Ed Martinez, Joel Walinski 

Commissioners District 3: David Donovick, Jesse Redell, Doug England 

 
Meeting Agenda 
Wednesday, June 22, 2022 at 7:00 P.M.  
Chelan County Community Development 
 

The Planning Commission will hold all of their Regular and Special Meetings via Zoom Video 
Conference until further notice. Click the link below to join the meeting. 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81395237177?pwd=RDA1K21sajUreCtlSG5LRVdCY25mQT09  
Meeting ID: 813 9523 7177 
Passcode: 862934 
 
Dial by your location 

        +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 

Meeting ID: 813 9523 7177 
Passcode: 862934 
 

Call Meeting to Order 
 

I. Administrative 
A. Review/Approval of Minutes from April 27, 2022 

 
II. Public Comment Period 

Comment for any matters not identified on the agenda (limit 2 minutes per 
person) 

 
III. Old Business 

 
 

IV. New Business 
 
A. Public Hearing PBRS 21-584 Solazzi 

 
B. 2022 Docket Review 

 
C. STR Update 
 

V. Discussion, at the Chair’s discretion 
  
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81395237177?pwd=RDA1K21sajUreCtlSG5LRVdCY25mQT09


VI. Adjournment *Meeting will go no longer than 9:00 PM.* 
 
Materials available on the Community Development website 

 
Any person may join this meeting via Zoom Video conference, of which the link is provided on 
the Chelan County Website. A Copy of the Agenda may be reviewed online 
https://www.co.chelan.wa.us/community-development/pages/planning-commission or 
requesting it by email at CD.Director@co.chelan.wa.us  
 
Chelan County has been recording Planning Commission meetings which will continue to be 
accessible on the Community Development Planning Commission web page shortly after the 
meeting takes place. If you need special accommodations to view the meetings while they take 
place, please contact us immediately at 509-667-6225 to set up a place for you to do so on the 
County Campus. Keep in mind you would be required to were personal protective equipment and 
maintain social distancing guide lines at all times. 

 
 

Next Regular Meeting 
July 27, 2022 at 7:00 pm via Zoom 

 
* All P lanning Commission meetings and hearings are open to the public. 

https://www.co.chelan.wa.us/community-development/pages/planning-commission
mailto:CD.Director@co.chelan.wa.us


 

CHELAN COUNTY 
  PLANNING COMMISSION 

MINUTES 
 

Chelan County Planning Commission     Date: April 27, 2022 
Chelan County Community Development VIA ZOOM    
Called to Order: 7:07 PM 
316 Washington St., Suite 301  
Wenatchee, WA 98801 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
Meeting was called to order at 7:07 pm 
 
COMMISSIONER PRESENT/ABSENT 
Doug England  Present   Ed Martinez                 Present 
Vicki Malloy      Present   Jesse Redell                  Present 
Ryan Kelso  Present                           Cherié Warren            Present   
James Wiggs  Present   David Donovick           Present    
Joel Walinski  Present 
 

STAFF PRESENT 
Deanna Walter, Interim Director 
Chris Young, Building Official 
Wendy Lane, Permit Clerk  
 
PUBLIC PRESENT 
 
MINUTES 

Chairman Doug England asked the Planning Commission if they had read the minutes from the 
February 23, 2022, meeting. 

Commissioner Vicki Malloy stated that Ryan Walker’s name was missing from the Public Present 
section in the minutes. 

Upon the correction of the minutes, they were approved. 

MOTION:  

 
Motion made by Commissioner Vicki Malloy, seconded by Commissioner Joel Walinski, to approve the 
minutes for the February 23, 2022, meeting.  
 

 



 

Vote – unanimous 
 
Motion carries. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

None 

OLD BUSINESS: 

 Continued Public Hearing ZTA 21-587 SMP Appendix B: Critical Areas 

 Building Official Chris Young gave a brief recap of the application.  He also went through a narrative 
he prepared to explain the changes made in the draft. Staff recommends approval. 

Mr. Young addressed questions and comments from the Commissioners.  There was a discussion among 
the group with regard to the material presented. 

Commissioner Vicki Malloy wants to make sure the Voluntary Stewardship Program is addressed in the 
Critical Areas Ordinance. 

Commissioner Cherié Warren pointed out a typo in Section 6.2.4, #3, that references Section 6.2.7, and 
it should reference 6.2.5. 

MOTION:  

Motion made by Commissioner Ed Martinez, seconded by Commissioner Jesse Redell, to approve ZTA 
21-587 SMP Appendix B: Critical Areas, to include Commissioner Malloy’s concern of VSB and 
Commissioner Warren’s typo correction. 

There was discussion with regard to the motion. 

Vote – unanimous 

Motion carries.  

DISCUSSION, at the CHAIR’s DISCRETION: 
 
Commissioners David Donovick and Ed Martinez wanted clarity concerning Short-term Rentals.  
Chairman Doug England stated he would ask the County Commissioners if there are firm numbers he 
can report or have it put on a future Agenda for discussion. 
 
Chairman Doug England entertained that future Planning Commission meetings be held in person.  He 
will speak with the County Commissioners on the matter.  
 
Commissioner Jesse Redell wanted to make a note on a future possibility of Cities and Chelan County to 
work together on long-term planning for roads and utilities. 



 

Chairman Doug England gave staff updates with in Community Development.  Luis Gonzalez, from the 
City of Chelan, is willing to assist Chelan County on a part-time basis as the Building Official.  Assessor 
Deanna Walter is serving as the interim Director and Assistant Director of the department.   
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting Adjourned at 8:14 pm. 
 
Next Planning Commission Meeting to be held on May 25, 2022, at 7:00 pm, – a Zoom meeting. 
 

All Planning Commission meetings and hearings are open to the public. 



PBRS 2021-584-Solazzi  Page 1 of 7 

Chelan County 
Department of Community Development 

 

 STAFF REPORT 

  

 
TO: Chelan County Planning Commission 
FROM: Chelan County Community Development 
HEARING DATE: June 22, 2022 
FILE NUMBER: Public Benefit Rating System, PBRS 2021-584 
PROPOSAL: An application requesting approval of an ‘open space’ 

classification for 4.06 acres of land to the Public Benefit Rating 
System. The application was submitted on December 20, 2021.  

  
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
Property location: 8094 and 8132 E. Leavenworth Rd., Leavenworth, WA 

Applicant: 
Richard Solazzi 
8132 E. Leavenworth Rd. 
Leavenworth, WA 98826 

Assessor Parcel Number: 24-17-24-512-110 and 24-17-24-512-105 respectively  

Total acreage involved: 8.48 acres 

Comprehensive Plan designation 
& Zoning district: Rural Residential/Resource 10 (RR10) 

Existing land uses: 

Parcel # 24-17-24-512-110 (8094 E. Leavenworth Rd.) 
is currently vacant. 
Parcel # 24-17-24-512-105 (8132 E. Leavenworth Rd.) 
has a 2,412 sq.ft. home built in 2016, a 2,304 sq.ft. 
garage built in 2016, and a 672 sq.ft. ADU built in 1972 
according to the Assessor’s records 

SEPA: Exempt pursuant to WAC 197-11-80014(k) 

 
RCW 84.34 was enacted by the Washington State Legislature in 1970 for the purpose of 
maintaining, preserving, conserving, and otherwise continuing in existence open space lands for 
the production of food and fiber and to assure the use and enjoyment of natural resources and 
scenic beauty for the economic well-being of the state and its citizens. Chelan County Code 
(CCC) Chapter 14-22 provides a rating system for the evaluation of such open space lands.   
The public benefit rating system is used to value property for tax assessment purposes.  The 
amount of property tax reduction is based upon the number of eligibility points for which a 
property qualifies. 
 

 



PBRS 2021-584-Solazzi  Page 2 of 7 

Chelan County Code Chapter 14.22.060 Open Space Public Benefit: 
The applicant is seeking the following Open Space classifications: 

A. High Priority Resources: 5 Points Each  
(iii) Fish-Rearing Habitat: Defined as Types 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 waters as defined by WAC 
22-16-030.   

Eligible lands contain water bodies designated as Types 1 through 5 by the Washington 
State Department of Natural Resources and the eligible area must include a minimum of 
three hundred feet of contiguous shoreline length or ponds and lakes greater than one-
half acre. Eligible contiguous upland buffer area (any area beyond the ordinary high 
water mark) is limited to one acre per one hundred feet of shoreline length for streams 
and four times the lake or pond area. 
Finding: Icicle Creek is a Type 1 water as defined by WAC 22-16-030 because it is 
inventoried as a Shoreline of the State. According to the site plan of record, the 
easement area portion of the subject properties include 516 lineal feet of shoreline along 
Icicle Creek. The entire easement area is 4.2 acres in size, which is below the maximum 
allowed 5 acres of eligible contiguous upland buffer area. 
 
(iv) Shoreline Environment: Defined as a lake or stream shoreline and its “associated 
wetlands” as defined by WAC 173-18-080 and the Chelan County Shoreline Master 
Program. 

Eligible lands are those identified as shoreline environments and their associated 
wetlands in the Chelan County shoreline master program. Only those lands in the actual 
shoreline classification adjacent to the water shall be eligible for the public benefit rating 
system. This area encompasses two hundred feet upland from the ordinary high-water 
mark, that area in the one-hundred-year floodplain, or the edge of the associated 
wetland boundary, whichever is greater. Use restrictions shall be placed within these 
areas and no forest practice shall take place. 

Finding:  Per Chelan County GIS mapping, the shorelines on the subject properties are 
within the ‘rural’ shoreline jurisdiction and therefore have 100-foot shoreline buffers 
associated with them. The easement area does not have any structures and no 
vegetation removal is to occur. 
 
(vii) Rural Open Space Outside Urban Growth Areas: Defined as one or more acres 
of land located within two miles of an urban growth area designated by Chelan County. 

Eligible lands are those meeting the definition above. 

Finding:  The subject properties each are over 1.0 acre in size (the easement area is 
4.2 acres in size) and are located 0.65 miles from the urban growth area of Leavenworth 
per Chelan County GIS mapping. 
 
(viii) Significant Wildlife Habitat Area: Defined as an area which is characterized by 
the presence of important habitats and species or other animals in such frequency and 
diversity for critical ecological processes occurring, such as breeding, nesting, nursery, 
feeding, migration, and resting. 

Eligible lands are: 



PBRS 2021-584-Solazzi  Page 3 of 7 

• “Tier 1” wetlands identified by the Washington State Department of Natural 
Resources, Natural Heritage Program; or. 

• Shoreline environments, where a minimum of three hundred feet of contiguous 
shoreline length is included, and the contiguous upland buffer area (any area 
beyond ordinary high water mark, one-hundred-year floodplain, or associated 
wetland boundary) is no greater than one acre per one hundred feet of shoreline 
length; or 

• Sites located within or adjacent to migration corridors identified by the 
Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, specifically the Squilchuck 
Creek Area, Navarre Coulee, Knapp Coulee, and future migration corridors; or 

• Class I wetlands regulated under the Chelan County critical areas ordinance; or 

• Important habitats and species regulated under the Chelan County critical areas 
ordinance; or 

• Sites located adjacent to natural area preserves (NAP) as identified by the 
Washington State Department of Natural Resources, including Upper Dry Gulch 
NAP, Entiat Slopes NAP, Larkspur Meadows NAP, and future natural area 
preserves. 

• Eligible lands include those that meet the definition above and the following 
conditions: 

o The resources are confirmed by the data sources indicated or identified 
by either the appropriate state agency or a competent professional whose 
findings are substantiated by the appropriate state agency. 

o The resources are included within a habitat management plan developed 
by a qualified wildlife habitat biologist that includes the following 
conditions the owners agree to follow: 
 Land use limitations needed for the long-term viability of the 

important species or habitat; 
 Limitations for access by humans and domesticated animals, as 

needed; 
 Management measures that will enhance the species’ viability, if 

needed; and 
 Recommended review intervals for at least the following twenty 

years. 
Finding: According to the site plan of record, the easement area portion of the 
applicant’s properties include 516 lineal feet of shoreline along Icicle Creek. The entire 
easement area is 4.2 acres in size, which is below the maximum allowed 5 acres of 
eligible contiguous upland buffer area.  A study on the subject properties was performed 
by Grette and Associates in 2012 for the building permit of the residence found the 
following: 

“The shoreline at the project site is characterized by a steep vertical bank at the 
OHWM. Dense native vegetation is present along the majority of the shoreline 
ranging from a few feet wide to over 100 feet wide. Near the OHWM, redosier 
dogwood (Cornus stolonifera) and wood’s rose (Rosa woodsia) are dominant. 
Extending landward from the river, black hawthorn (Cratagaeous douglasii) is 
present back to an open mowed lawn.  Near the residence, there are several 



PBRS 2021-584-Solazzi  Page 4 of 7 

mature Douglas-fir (Pseudostuga menziesii), paper birch (Betula papyrifera) and 
spruce trees (Picea pungens) within the lawn area. 
Much of the property is located within the floodplain and/or floodway of the Icicle 
River. The property provides for flood water storage and carries the velocity of 
the river during flood events within the floodway. The existing vegetation along 
the shoreline provides quality riparian habitat for fish and wildlife. The dense 
vegetation also would slow velocities during floods, trap sediment and is 
protecting the shoreline from erosion. 
Within the OHWM the substrate of the river includes a variety of cobbles, 
boulders and sand. Several submerged logs are present within the river channel. 
The river supports resident and anadromous fish species. Both the existing 
vegetation along the shoreline and the substrates of the river contribute to the 
quality of the habitat.” 

No habitat management plan has been prepared for the easement area; however, a 
recommendation of approval by staff would require one to be prepared if this resource 
was awarded to the applicant. 
 
(xii) Aquifer Protection Area: Defined as areas designated in the Chelan County 
critical areas ordinance as aquifer recharge areas. 

Eligible lands are those meeting the above definition. Certain uses may be restricted due 
to the sensitive nature and function of the land. Native vegetation must be preserved or 
a plan for revegetation must be submitted and approved. 

Finding: The subject properties do not meet the designation of an aquifer recharge area 
as described in CCC Section 11.82.020 
 
(xiii) Surface Water Quality Buffer Area: Defined as an undisturbed zone of native 
growth vegetation adjacent to a lake, pond, river, stream, or wetland that will benefit a 
surface water body by protecting water quality and reducing erosion. To be considered a 
surface water quality buffer area, the property owner must provide livestock restrictions 
(fencing), if necessary, or be subject to a conservation plan approved by the natural 
resources conservation district. 

Eligible lands must meet the definition above. In addition, the area must be preserved 
from clearing or intrusion by domesticated animals or structures. All such lands in or 
adjacent to pasture land must be fenced to prevent intrusion by domesticated animals. 
The buffer width is measured upland from the ordinary high water mark or the outer 
edge of a regulated wetland. The buffer does not include the body of water waterward of 
the ordinary high water mark or the wetland itself. There are two ways for eligible lands 
to meet these requirements: 

• Provide at least fifty percent additional buffer width beyond that required by 
regulation; or 

• Fence existing livestock out of the buffer required by regulation. 

Finding: No livestock exist on the subject properties nor are any of the adjacent 
properties used for raising livestock either, so fencing would not be required.  The buffer 
width for the proposed easement area measures over 400 feet from the ordinary high 
water mark, which is more than fifty percent of additional buffer width from the required 
100-foot shoreline buffer. 



PBRS 2021-584-Solazzi  Page 5 of 7 

 
B. Medium Priority Resources: 3 Points Each  

(iii) Scenic Vistas or Resources: Defined as an area of natural features which is 
visually significant to the aesthetic character of the county and is visible from a public 
right-of-way. 

Eligibility will be evaluated based on the following criteria: 

• Historically significant view corridors which are visible to significant numbers of 
the general public from a public right-of-way. 

• Areas designated as scenic highways or byways by a federal, state, or local 
government agency or an organization qualifying for tax exempt status under 
subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code whose primary mission is the 
preservation of scenic vistas. 

• Eligible lands must be of sufficient size to preserve substantially the scenic 
resource value and must contain a minimum of ten acres. 

Finding: East Leavenworth Road is not designated as a scenic byway by any 
government agency and the easement area is only 4.2 acres in size and doesn’t meet 
the ten acre threshold. 

 
E. Public Access 
The following category contributes to or in some way enhances the public benefit of the 
priority resources. Where applicable, the priority resource qualifications specify if they can 
be combined with other similar priority resources. 

(i) While public access is not required for most categories of open space, some degree 
of access is encouraged for all lands enrolled in the open space tax program unless 
access would be harmful to the resource, such as sensitive plants or animals. The kind 
of public access proposed shall be stated on the application request, e.g., a certain 
seasonal period, unlimited, signed nature trail, etc. When public access is proposed, it 
may be made a condition of approval by the board of Chelan County commissioners as 
provided in RCW 84.34.037.  Types of Access: 

(a) Unlimited public access: eight points. This provision provides for year-round 
access by any member of the public without specialized interest in the resource. 

(b) Limited public access (due to resource sensitivity): six points. When access to 
a parcel is to be limited due to the sensitive nature of the resource, the access 
shall be provided only to appropriate user groups. The activities of those user 
groups shall generally be limited to scientific, educational, or research purposes. 
Those appropriate user groups may include but not be limited to university 
researchers, Audubon Society, Nature Conservancy, Native Plant Society, or 
other organizations with specialized interest in the resource. 

(c) Limited public access (seasonal and/or upon special arrangements): four 
points. Access to the public is allowed, with or without special arrangements with 
the property, for any period of less than the full year (seasonal access). 

(d) No public access: zero points. No public access is allowed or members only 
access which is restricted at all times to members of the organization utilizing the 
land. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=84.34.037


PBRS 2021-584-Solazzi  Page 6 of 7 

(ii) Where public access is provided, access points shall be awarded according to 
physical accessibility as well as owner willingness for public access. No access points 
shall be awarded if the property is not reasonably accessible. 

For properties where public access is provided, the county may furnish and maintain a 
standardized sign or require the applicant to furnish and maintain a standardized sign 
designating the property as part of the open space tax program. 

(iii) Limitations of Public Access. As a condition of granting open space classification, the 
legislative body may not require public access on land classified under 
RCW 84.34.020(1)(b)(iii) for the purpose of promoting conservation of wetlands. (Res. 
2014-38 (Atts. A, B) (part), 4/15/14; Res. 2012-99 (Att. A (part)), 10/30/12). 

The following category contributes to or in some way enhances the public benefit of the 
priority resources. Where applicable, the priority resource qualifications specify if they 
can be combined with other similar priority resources. 

Finding: The applicant is proposing to allow bank fishing within the easement area, 
which is limited to the appropriate fishing windows allocated by the Department of Fish 
and Wildlife.  Parking is available along the side of East Leavenworth Road just to the 
east of the bridge.  The public would be able to access the easement area directly from 
East Leavenworth Road.   

 
Conclusion: 

Staff finds the following are consistent with Chelan County Code: 

• Fish Rearing Habitat = 5 points 

• Shoreline Environment = 5 points 

• Rural Open Space Outside Urban Growth Areas = 5 points 

• Significant Wildlife Habitat Area = 5 points with Condition of Approval 

• Aquifer Protection Area = 0 points 

• Surface Water Quality Buffer Area = 5 points 

• Scenic Vistas or Resources = 0 points 

• Public Access = 4 points 
In total the applicant has requested 41 points; staff finds the application and properties are 
consistent with the criteria for 29 points for a reduction of 80% in the fair market value for 
4.20 acres. 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. Pursuant to RCW 84.34, the applicant shall sign the “Open Space Taxation Agreement” 
and return to the Chelan County Assessor’s office. 

2. Prior to returning the “Open Space Taxation Agreement” to the Chelan County Assessor, 
the proposed Boundary Line Adjustment must be recorded. 

3. In order to obtain all 5 points for the Significant Wildlife Habitat Area resource, a Habitat 
Management Plan will need to be developed for the proposed easement area prior to 
returning the “Open Space Taxation Agreement” to the Chelan County Assessor 

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=84.34.020


PBRS 2021-584-Solazzi  Page 7 of 7 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Site Plan 
B. Application Materials 

 


























	June 22, 2022-PC-Agenda.pdf
	April-27-2022-PC-Minutes
	PBRS 2021-584 Staff Report
	PBRS 21-584 Site Plan
	PBRS 21-584 Application Materials



